
215 Alliance, Community Stabilization Project, and Christine Learned,

                                                Plaintiffs,

v.

Andrew Cuomo, in his official capacity as Secretary of the Department of Housing and Urban Development; the United States Department of Housing and Urban Development; and Oak Grove Towers Associates,

                                                 Defendants.

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MINNESOTA
Civil No. 98-64 DWF/AJB

MEMORANDUM IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ MOTION FOR PARTIAL SUMMARY 
JUDGMENT
Oral Argument on this motion is requested.

I. INTRODUCTION

This lawsuit involves the threat to low income residents of Oak Grove Towers of substantial rent increases and displacement from their homes.  Low income residents of this 228 unit apartment complex in Minneapolis are threatened with imminent displacement because the U.S. Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) refuses to follow the plain language of the federal statute which authorizes “enhanced” section 8 vouchers.  These “enhanced” vouchers were intended by Congress to permit low-income residents to elect to remain in their homes despite steep rent increases following the owner’s termination of federal project-based subsidies to the complex.  Instead, HUD’s interpretation of the “enhanced” voucher statute requires residents to pay these unaffordable rent increases. 

In addition to challenging HUD’s policies which undermine the purposes of the enhanced voucher statute, this lawsuit also challenges HUD’s approval of the owner’s termination of project-based section 8 housing subsidy assistance for lower income residents, without the one year notice required by federal and state statute. The former project-based subsidies were replaced with  “enhanced” section 8 vouchers provided to eligible tenants.   HUD has taken the position, contrary to the plain language of the enhanced voucher authorizing statute, that in the event of any rent increases subsequent to the first increase after prepayment, the low income tenants  “must decide whether to move to a less expensive unit or pay for the increase in rent out of pocket.” One hundred and twenty five low-income households currently living at Oak Grove Towers with enhanced vouchers
 will be faced with exactly that choice in September of 1999. Affidavit of John Cann  Exh. I  (“Cann Aff.”)

The illegal termination of the project-based section 8 contracts resulted in the loss of an important affordable housing resource and loss of previously provided services for residents.  HUD’s insistence that its approval of the section 8 contracts termination was proper threatens other low-income residents of section 8 projects with similar illegal loss of subsidy.
 HUD’s refusal to administer the “enhanced” vouchers held by Oak Grove Towers residents in conformance with the authorizing statute violates both the authorizing statute and HUD’s duty under 42. U.S.C. § 3608 to administer its programs in a manner which affirmatively furthers the purposes and policies of the Fair Housing Act.    

Plaintiffs include the 215 Alliance, the residents’ organization at Oak Grove Towers and the Community Stabilization Project, a community organization whose mission is to organize low income people, tenants and people of color to take action to preserve and increase the supply of affordable housing in St. Paul and Minneapolis.  Plaintiffs initially brought this lawsuit to challenge the illegal termination of the section 8 contracts.  The plaintiffs subsequently entered into a settlement agreement with the owner and dismissed the owner as a defendant.  After this suit was initiated, HUD promulgated the policies for administration of “enhanced” vouchers, which currently threaten the residents of Oak Grove Towers with displacement.  Plaintiffs brought a motion for permission to supplement the complaint to include claims for declaratory and injunctive relief with respect to this policy.  This motion was granted by Magistrate Judge Boylan on October 21, 1998.  Plaintiffs have now brought a motion for partial summary judgment with respect to their claims for declaratory judgment.
  This Memorandum in support of plaintiffs’ motion is organized to focus on HUD’s “enhanced” voucher policy because that policy threatens residents of Oak Grove Towers with imminent displacement.

II. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

A.  Oak Grove Towers – Affordable Housing for Vulnerable Low Income Tenants

Oak Grove Towers contains 228 apartment units in a single building located at 215 Oak Grove Street, Minneapolis, Minnesota.  The building is occupied primarily by low-income persons.  According to data submitted by the owner to HUD on April 15, 1997, there were 179 households receiving HUD project-based assistance.  Of these 173 had incomes under $10,000 annually.  The average income for these assisted households was $8,504 annually.  Cann Aff., ¶ 2 Exh. H.    Many of the residents receiving HUD assistance are elderly or disabled
.  HUD’s report entitled, “A Picture of Subsidized Households 1996” 
showed 31% of the occupants to be over age 62 and 39% of the households younger than 62 to be disabled.    A significant number of the low-income residents have lived at Oak Grove Towers for many years
.

Until July of 1997, the project was financed with a HUD-insured and subsidized mortgage bearing one-percent interest under section 236 of the National Housing Act
.  This section 236 mortgage subsidy required rental to low and moderate income tenants and permitted rents to such tenants to be substantially below current market rates.   The project was further subsidized with two project-based loan management section 8 contracts
.  One contract, covering 75 units, expired on September 30, 1997 and the other, covering 91 units expired on October 31, 1997. Under these section 8 contracts, the residents of the units covered paid rent equal to thirty percent of their adjusted incomes and the owner received a subsidy from HUD to cover the difference between the rent paid by the tenants and the total Contract Rents for the units approved by HUD.
As set out in more detail in Section C, below, the owner refused to renew both section 8 contracts, prepaid the section 236 mortgage, and converted the building to market rate. 

B.  HUD Provision of “Enhanced” Vouchers.


HUD secured  "enhanced" tenant-based vouchers for residents of Oak Grove Towers whose rents were previously subsidized under the project-based section 8 contracts as well as for some of the tenants who had previously paid below-market rents as a result of the section 236 subsidized mortgage
. 

Under the Section 8 program, the tenant pays rent equal to 30% of adjusted income and HUD pays a subsidy to the owner for the difference between the rent charged by the owner and the tenant’s contribution.  Section 8 assistance may be either “project-based” or “tenant based.”  In the former case, the subsidy remains with the project when individual tenants move.  In the latter case, the subsidy is designated for the tenant and the tenant may move and take the subsidy.   Tenant based assistance is administered through a local public housing agency whereas the project based assistance for Oak Grove Towers was governed by a contract directly between HUD and the owner.  Section 8 assistance may also be either in the form of “certificates” or  “vouchers.”  In the case of standard tenant based certificates, program rules limit program participation to units that charge less than a Fair Market Rent designated annually by HUD for the metropolitan area.  A voucher holder, however, may occupy a unit with a rent higher than the “voucher payment standard” but is required the pay the difference between the voucher payment standard and the rent, in addition to 30% of income.
When the owner prepaid the section 236 mortgage, residents facing a rent increase became eligible for “enhanced” vouchers.  The owner’s termination of the two project-based section 8 contracts made all of the tenants using project-based section 8 assistance eligible for “enhanced” vouchers. These “enhanced” vouchers are "enhanced" to benefit owners rather than tenants. Authorized by Pub.L. 104-204, the 1997 HUD Appropriations Act and reauthorized by subsequent HUD Appropriations Acts
, these "enhanced" section 8 vouchers allow the owner to charge full market rents, substantially more than would be allowed under the standard section 8 program.  The “enhanced” vouchers are less beneficial to low income residents of Oak Grove Towers than the project-based assistance in several respects.


Subsequent to the filing of the original Complaint in this case, on April 3, 1998, HUD issued Notice PIH 98-19 setting out HUD’s policies and procedures for “enhanced” vouchers.  Section 11.B. provides that the “enhanced” features do not apply to subsequent rent increases by the owner.  HUD’s voucher “payment standard” is not adjusted to cover a subsequent rent increase and, in the event of any such rent increase, “the family must decide whether to move to a less expensive unit or pay for the increase in rent out of pocket.”  On March 12, 1999, HUD issued Notice PIH 99-16, which is effective until March 31, 2000 and contains identical language to that in Notice PIH 98-19, providing that the “enhanced” features do not apply to subsequent rent increases. 


This policy is contrary to the statutory language authorizing “enhanced” vouchers, which provides that any tenant affected by a prepayment of a subsidized mortgage may elect to remain in the apartment and, if the rent exceeds the voucher payment standard, the rent shall be deemed to be the applicable voucher payment standard “so long as the administering public housing agency finds that the rent is reasonable in comparison with rents charged for comparable unassisted housing units in the market.”  Pub.L. 104-204, “Preserving Existing Housing Investment Account.”    The statutory provisions do not limit this “enhanced” feature to only the first rent increase following prepayment.  HUD’s policy that limits the enhanced feature is not supported by the clear language of the statute.

The rents currently being subsidized with enhanced vouchers at Oak Grove Towers range from $550 to $620 per month for one-bedroom apartments and from $675 to $735 per month for two-bedroom units.  As of October 1999, the owner will be charging from $675 to $750 per month for these one bedroom units and from $795 to $865 per month for these two bedroom units. Cann Aff. ¶ 4 and 5.      Under the HUD policy regarding subsequent rent increases, HUD will continue to subsidize only the current rent levels.  Thus, when the owner implements rent increases in October, a tenant of the least expensive one-bedroom unit will have to choose to pay $245 per month plus 30% of income or move.


The HUD policy limiting enhanced features of the vouchers to only one initial rent increase threatens the residents remaining in Oak Grove Towers with enhanced vouchers with rent increases and with displacement because they will not be able to afford subsequent rent increases. Residents of other projects throughout the metropolitan area with enhanced vouchers or who live in units vulnerable to prepayment are similarly threatened by HUD’s policy.

C. HUD’s Duty to Administer Its Programs So As to Affirmatively Further the Purposes and Policies of the Fair Housing Act.


HUD is required by 42 U.S.C. Section 3608(e)(5) to administer its programs and activities in a manner which affirmatively furthers the policies of the Federal Fair Housing Act (Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1968, 42 U.S.C. Section 3601, et. seq.) (“Fair Housing Act”).  The Fair Housing Act prohibits acts which makes housing unavailable to persons because of race or handicap, including adoption of facially neutral policies which have a disproportionately adverse effect on persons protected by the Act.

HUD’s policy about enhanced vouchers set out in Section 11.B. of PIH 98-19 has a disproportionate adverse effect on racial minorities and persons with handicaps, including such a disproportionate adverse effect on the residents of Oak Grove Towers who currently rely on enhanced vouchers. HUD’s own data 
 shows that in 1997, when the project-based assistance was terminated, 23 % of the occupants of Oak Grove Towers were racial minorities, compared to 7.9% of persons in the metropolitan area housing market at the 1990 census.  At that same time, 30% of Oak Grove Towers residents under age 62 were disabled, compared to 7.7% of persons age 16-64 in the metropolitan area housing market at the 1990 census

.
  This same HUD report reveals similar disparities in the statistics for occupants of section 236 projects at risk for prepayment and imposition of enhanced vouchers in Minnesota and the nation. According to HUD data for Minnesota, 25% of the potential enhanced voucher holders are minorities compared to 5.5% of the state’s population at the 1990 census
 and 19% of occupants under age 62 were disabled compared to 2.78% of the state population at the 1990 census
.  Nationally, 53% of the potential enhanced voucher tenants are minorities compared to 19.7% of the nation’s population at the 1990 census and 13% of occupants under 62 were disabled compared to 4.6% of the national population at the 1990 census.  In spite of the obvious implications for fair housing, HUD made no analysis at all of the implications of its policy on subsequent rent increases for the policies and purposes of the Fair Housing Act
.  See discussion in section III.B. below.

D. Termination of the Federal Assistance.

Pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(9) (A copy of the language of this statute in effect at the relevant time is attached hereto as Exhibit A for the convenience of the Court.
) the owner was required to provide written notice to both the tenants and to HUD at least one year prior to terminating the section 8 contracts.  This notice must specify the reasons for the termination with sufficient detail to enable HUD to evaluate whether termination is lawful and whether additional actions could be taken by HUD to avoid the termination.  Under this statute, "the owner's refusal to renew the assistance contract" is a "termination" requiring the notice
.   HUD is required by this same statute, to consider whether additional actions can be taken to prevent the contract termination and to issue a written finding of the legality of the termination.  HUD's Handbook 4350.2 Rev-1, Paragraphs 3-4.C. and D. require HUD to respond to an owner who has given the required one year termination notice by offering certain incentives for contract continuation and to document in the project file the legality of the notice, HUD's response, and the owner's rejection of inducements to remain in the program.   Minnesota Statutes § 504.32 Subd. 2(2) requires the owner of federally subsidized rental housing to give a one-year notice of the owner's exercise of an option not to renew a section 8 contract.

On March 20, 1996, the owner, through its management company, sent the following notice to HUD regarding the section 8 contract which covered 75 units in the project and would otherwise have expired September 30, 1996:  "I have received your offer of an extension of my expiring Section 8 contract.  I accept...your offer of a one year contract extension." Cann. Aff. Exh. B.  This notice was a form notice provided by HUD.  The HUD cover letter providing the form notice to the owner characterized this form as for the purpose of acceptance or rejection of HUD’s offer to renew the section 8 contract. Cann Aff. Exh. A. The HUD cover letter clearly indicates that the notice requirements of § 1437f must be met with additional communication from the owner
. Id.
On March 21, 1996, the owner sent to all 
the section 8 tenants a letter which stated in part:


"Legislation has just been passed which gives us the option of renewing our section 8 project-based assistance contract for one year.  Our current contract expires on Sept. 30, 1996 at which time we have decided to extend our contract for the full year permitted by the new law.  However, there is no guarantee, at the end of this one year term, that the Department of Housing and Urban Development (HUD) will extend our project-based contract.  


As project owners participating in the section 8 program, we are required to provide you with one year's notice of the expiration or termination of our building's section 8 assistance.  Therefore, we hereby notify you that, in the absence of a further extension, the section 8 project-based assistance attached to your apartment will expire on September 30, 1997.  


It is our understanding that if our project-based contract is not renewed at the end of our new one-year extension, HUD will provide tenant-based assistance to all eligible residents..."  (Emphasis added.) Cann Aff. Exh. C, Page 2.

This letter referred to only one of the two contracts  (the one expiring on September 30)
.   The language of the letter was taken from a HUD form letter intended by HUD to address the fact that expiring contracts were being renewed only for one year
.  A copy of this letter was submitted by the owner to HUD on November 8, 1996
. Cann Aff. ¶ 2 and Exh. C.   On its face, the letter provides assurances that the owner will renew the contract in the future if HUD offers to extend the contract.  It certainly provides no indication whatsoever that the owner would refuse an extension and thus does not provide any reasons for the owner refusing to renew the contract.



On September 26, 1996, Congress authorized, through the passage of Pub.L. 104-204, HUD renewal of expiring project-based section 8 contracts.   Any concern expressed in the owner’s March 21 letter to the tenants regarding HUD’s further extension of the section 8 contracts was addressed by this Congressional authorization.


Despite the availability of the extension, on January 7, 1997, the owner, through its management agent, wrote to HUD stating for the first time in writing that "...it is our intent to decline the offer of a one year contract upon expiration of the above-referenced section 8 contracts, and to prepay the existing mortgage on the property."  Cann Aff. Exh. D.  The owner’s letter further claimed that the March 20, 1996 letter to HUD and the March 21, 1996 letter to the tenants "satisfied as notice of contract expiration" (emphasis added).  The owner’s letter, which referred to both section 8 contracts, asked for written confirmation from HUD that the owner had met all notice requirements enabling it to not renew any section 8 contracts.  This January 7 letter was not sent to the tenants.


Thus, until January 7, no letter was sent to HUD indicating that the owner would refuse to renew the section 8 contracts or providing any reason for this refusal.  There is no documentation in the record that HUD considered whether additional actions could be taken to prevent termination of the section 8 contracts.   The documentation of a proper notice and of HUD’s response required by HUD Handbook Handbook 4350.2 Rev-1, is not present in HUD's project files.


On January 15, HUD wrote to the owner through its management agent in response to the January 7 letter regarding the owner's intent to decline extension of the Section 8 contracts and prepay the subsidized mortgage.  Cann Aff. ¶ 2 Exh. E.  HUD's letter stated that "Our review indicates you have fulfilled the one year notice requirement for non-renewal of the section 8 contract" (italics added).  The letter further permitted the owner to proceed with prepayment of the mortgage pursuant to requirements set out in the letter.    


HUD is required by its Handbook 4350.2 Rev-1, paragraph 3-4.B., to immediately document an owner's failure to provide proper notice of termination and to notify the owner that the proposed termination is improper, and that HUD will pursue affirmative litigation to protect the tenants.  HUD took none of these action in response to the owner’s proposed illegal termination.  Upon learning of the owner's intent to refuse renewal of the section 8 contracts and prepay the mortgage, HUD failed to take the most obvious step, required by its own Handbook, to avoid such termination.  Instead of informing the owner that the alleged notice of termination did not meet the statutory one year requirement and acting affirmatively on behalf of the tenants, HUD adopted the absurd position that the owner’s notice extending one of the section 8 contracts met the statutory requirement for a written notice of the owner’s intent to refuse to renew both contracts
.


HUD took no steps to ensure that tenants were notified of the owner’s intention as required by 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(9).  To the contrary, HUD and the owner denied the tenants such information until it was far too late for the tenants to take any action to avoid the prepayment and termination.


The owner did not inform the tenants of HUD's January 15, 1997 approval of the owner's notice of non-renewal of the section 8 contracts as required by 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(9).  The tenants did not receive notice of the termination until June 2, 1997 and did not receive notice of HUD's determination that the one year notice requirement had been fulfilled by the owner until September 24, 1997.  Cann Aff. Exhs. F and G.


On September 19, 1997, HUD made an additional finding that the owner’s notices met the requirements of the statute
.  Cann Aff. Exh. G.  On its face, this letter from HUD concedes that the only reasons provided by the owner to HUD for its refusal to renew the contracts were made orally by the owner to HUD, rather than in writing as required by the statute.   

As a result of the illegal actions of HUD and the owner, tenants were not notified of the termination and prepayment until shortly before these occurred.  This caused them substantial anxiety and distress regarding possible displacement.  Because the owner and HUD illegally denied the tenants timely notice of the owner's intent to prepay the section 236 mortgage and to terminate the section 8 contracts, the tenants were denied any opportunity to explore alternatives to prepayment and termination, such as purchase of the project by a buyer who would agree to keep the 236 mortgage and section 8 contract intact
. In addition, the owner was required under the project-based section 8 contracts that were illegally terminated to provide free parking to tenants.  The leases imposed by the owner under the enhanced vouchers require the tenants to pay an extra fee of $45.00 per month for parking which was formerly, but is no longer, covered in the section 8 rent.  Thus, the owner's illegal termination of the section 8 contracts has cost tenants $540 per year in order to park their cars in a ramp which was formerly free.  This financial hardship is made especially severe by the great difficulty in parking in this neighborhood and by the tenants’ limited incomes.

III. ARGUMENT

Plaintiffs have moved for partial summary judgment on their claims for declaratory judgment:

1. That the statutory authority under which HUD has issued “enhanced” vouchers to residents of Oak Grove Towers apartments requires that any rent charged for enhanced vouchers at Oak Grove Towers which the Minneapolis Public Housing agency finds to be reasonable must be deemed to be the applicable voucher payment standard and the provisions of HUD Notice PIH 98-19, paragraph 11.B. to the contrary violate that statutory requirement.

2. That HUD’s promulgation and enforcement of Notices PIH 98-19 and PIH 99-16, paragraph 11.B., violates HUD’s duty pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3608 to administer its programs so as to affirmatively further fair housing.
3. That HUD's approval of the Owner's termination of the project-based section 8 contracts at Oak Grove Towers was contrary to the requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 1437f(c)(9) and, therefore, was arbitrary, capricious, and not in accordance with law.

    The argument set out below demonstrates that there are no genuine issues of material fact and that plaintiffs are entitled to judgment on these claims as a matter of law. Rule 56(c) Fed R. Civ. P. 
  Plaintiffs do not at this time seek judgment on claims under 42 U.S.C. § 3608 or for injunctive or supplemental relief
.  

A. Plaintiffs Are Entitled to A Declaratory Judgement that HUD’s Policy Regarding Enhanced Voucher Rent Levels Subsequent to the Initial Rent Increase Are Contrary to Statutory Requirements.


The statutory language governing “enhanced” vouchers is set out in the “Preserving Existing Housing Investment Account”  in Pub.L. 104-204, the HUD-VA Appropriations Act for fiscal year 1997:

“Provided further, That notwithstanding any other provision of law, subject to the availability of appropriated funds, each low-income family, and moderate income family who is elderly or disabled or is residing in a low vacancy area, residing in the housing on the date of prepayment or voluntary termination, and whose rent, as a result of a rent increase occurring no later than one year after the date of the prepayment, exceeds 30 percent of adjusted income, shall be offered tenant based assistance in accordance with section 8 or any successor program, under which the family shall pay no less for rent than it paid on such date: Provided further, That any family receiving tenant-based assistance under the preceding proviso may elect (1) to remain in the unit of the housing and if the rent exceeds the fair market rent or payment standard, as applicable, the rent shall be deemed to be the applicable standard, so long as the administering public housing agency finds that the rent is reasonable in comparison with rents charged for comparable unassisted housing units in the market or (2) to move from the housing and the rent will be subject to the fair market rent of (sic) the payment standard, as applicable, under existing program rules and procedures: Provided further, That the tenant-based assistance made available under the preceding two provisos are in lieu of benefits provided in subsections 223(b), (c), and (d) of the Low Income Housing and Resident Homeownership Act of 1990
:”   Pub.L. 104-204, “Preserving Existing Housing Investment Account”


Funding was made available for enhanced vouchers, as provided under the terms of the 1997 Appropriations Act, by both the 1998 and 1999 HUD Appropriations Acts.  Pub.L. 105-65 and Pub.L. 105-276.
Under the regular section 8 tenant based subsidy programs, tenants receive certificates or vouchers.  HUD determines in advance the maximum rent levels for which HUD will provide subsidy.  These maximum rent levels are the “Fair Market Rent” (FMR) for certificates and the “Voucher Payment Standard” (VPS) for vouchers. The central feature of “enhanced vouchers” is that they enable a tenant to choose to “remain in the unit” even if the rent for the unit is greater than the standard under the certificate or voucher programs.   Thus, for “so long as” the administering public housing agency finds the higher rent which the owner wants to charge after prepayment to be reasonable, that rent will “be deemed to be the applicable standard,” that is, the FMR for certificates or the VPS for vouchers for that unit
.   With an enhanced voucher, tenants of those units will pay 30% of income towards this higher rent and HUD will pay the remainder of the higher rent to the owner, thus enabling the tenants to remain in the units in spite of the owners’ rent increases.

HUD’s position is that this enhanced feature does not apply after the first rent increase and that any subsequent rent increase imposed by the owner is “subject to normal program rules.”  PIH 99-16, Paragraph 11.B.  Thus, future rent increases result in HUD subsidizing only the difference between 30% of income and the rent level set by the initial rent increase.   If the tenant has an enhanced certificate, the tenant is out of luck and will have to move.   A tenant with an enhanced voucher must either pay the entire amount of the subsequent rent increase in addition to 30% of income, or be displaced.  Id. 

HUD’s position is not only inconsistent with the plain language of the statute, but evidences a cavalier disregard for the rights and well being of low income tenants.  The statute clearly states that a family receiving an “enhanced” voucher “may elect to remain in the unit.”  The statute doesn’t say “may elect to remain in the unit until the next rent increase.”   To the contrary, the enhanced feature is available “so long as” the administering agency finds the rent to be reasonable
.  The implementation of HUD’s policy will result in the ultimate displacement of tenants with enhanced vouchers.   By definition, tenants eligible for enhanced vouchers have limited incomes.  The choice to remain in the unit and pay the increased rent is no choice at all.

HUD’s position that the “normal program rules” govern subsequent rent increases is directly contradicted by the plain language of the statute, under which the normal program rules apply only to the tenant who elects to move
.  

HUD’s position that, upon subsequent rent increases, tenants with enhanced vouchers must pay the increase out of their own pockets or move is clearly contrary to statutory requirements and plaintiffs are entitled to a declaratory judgment that in the event of subsequent rent increases, holders of enhanced vouchers are entitled to have the new rent deemed to be the voucher payment standard, if found by the administering agency to be reasonable. 

B. Plaintiffs Are Entitled to A Declaratory Judgement that HUD’s Policy Regarding Enhanced Voucher Rent Levels Subsequent to the Initial Rent Increase Are Contrary to the Requirements of 42 U.S.C. § 3608.

 HUD is required, under 42 U.S.C. §§ 3608(d) and (e)(5), to administer its programs so as to affirmatively further the purposes and policies of the Fair Housing Act.   The federal courts have uniformly held that this affirmative duty, at a minimum requires, that HUD consider the effects of its proposed actions on the policies and purposes of the Fair Housing Act.  N.A.A.C.P. v. Secretary of Housing and Urban Development, 817 F.2d 149, 155 (1st Cir. 1987); Shannon v. Department of Housing and Urban Development, 436 F2d 809  (3rd Cir. 1970
).   

It is clear that HUD did not meet even this minimum requirement in adopting the policy that the “enhanced” feature of “enhanced” vouchers applies only to an initial rent increase.  In its response to Plaintiffs’ Interrogatories, HUD conceded that it had done no analysis of the likely effect of the policy with respect to the purposes and policies of the Fair Housing Act.  Defendant’s Responses to Plaintiffs’ Interrogatories Number 5, Cann Aff. Exh. J
.  In its response to Plaintiffs’ requests for admissions, HUD admitted that, prior to issuing Notice PIH 98-19, HUD did not analyze or assess whether the policy under which “the special FMR and payment standard rules do not apply to any subsequent rent increases” would: have an adverse disparate impact on racial minorities and disabled residents of housing eligible for prepayment; would increase or limit the supply of housing available to disabled persons; or would increase or limit the supply of housing in integrated areas available to racial minorities
.
 Defendant’s Response to Plaintiffs’ Requests for Admissions, Nos. 1-3, Cann Aff. Exh. K.   In these responses to Plaintiffs’ discovery requests, HUD takes the position that Notice PIH 98-19 is not a statement of policy by HUD but rather “a strict restatement of the statutory mandate of Public Law 104-204 under which enhanced vouchers are issued and administered
.” Defendants Responses to Plaintiffs Requests For Admissions No. 1, Cann Aff. Exh. K.  These omissions are especially egregious in light of HUD’s data clearly indicating that residents of subsidized projects, such as Oak Grove Towers, which are subject to prepayment and imposition of “enhanced” vouchers, are disproportionately minorities and the disabled
. See Section II.C. above. 

 HUD effectively concedes that, unless the statutory language authorizing enhanced vouchers dictates that HUD not subsidize rent increases subsequent to the initial rent increase, HUD has violated its statutory duty under 42 U.S.C. § 3608.  As demonstrated in part A. above, the statutory language not only does not support HUD’s position, it directly contradicts this position.  Thus, plaintiffs are entitled to a declaratory judgment that HUD’s promulgation and enforcement of the challenged policy violates HUD’s duty pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 3608 to affirmatively further the policies and purposes of the Fair Housing Act.
C. Plaintiffs are Entitled to A Declaratory Judgment that HUD’s Approval of the Section 8 Contract Terminations Was In Violation of Federal Statute.

An owner must give written notice to the tenants and to HUD prior to terminating project-based section 8 assistance.  42 USC § 1437f(c)(9
).  The plain language of the statute requires that notice be given either of expiration of a section 8 contract or of the owner’s decision not to renew the contract.   The requirement for notice of "expiration" is separate from and in addition to the requirement for notice of "refusal to renew." Azure v. Morton, 514 F.2d 897, 900 (9th Cir. 1975); U.S. v. Johnson, 791 F.Supp. 242, 243 (E.D.Missouri 1992); Sutherland Stat. Const. § 21.14 (4th Ed.); 73 Am.Jur. 2d Statutes § 241.    Failure to give the required notice of either event violates the statute.  

The notice must specify the reasons for the termination with sufficient detail to permit HUD to determine whether actions may be taken to avoid termination. 42 USC § 1437f(c)(9).  Upon reviewing the notice, HUD must consider whether there are additional actions that might be taken to avoid the termination.  Id.  HUD must issue written findings of the reasons for and legality of the termination, including actions taken or considered to avoid termination and the owner must provide the tenants with notice of HUD's action.  Id.  In addition to the statutory requirements, HUD’s Handbook 4350.2 Rev-1, Paragraphs 3-4.C. and D. require that HUD respond to an owner who has given the one year termination notice by offering certain incentives for contract continuation.  The Handbook further requires HUD to document in the project file the legality of the notice, HUD's response, and the owner's rejection of inducements to remain in the program. 

HUD has identified two letters from the owner, dated March 20 and March 21, 1996 as meeting these notice requirements.  Neither letter in any way satisfies the statutory notice requirement.  The March 20 letter to HUD simply accepts HUD's 1996 offer of a one year contract extension.  Cann Aff. Exh. B.  It does not in any way indicate that the owner will decline renewal of these contracts after 1997.  It does not provide any reasons for declining to renew the contracts, and it certainly does not provide HUD with the required opportunity to explore whether actions may be taken to avoid termination through non-renewal. Clearly, this letter does not meet the notice requirements set out in § 1437f(c)(9). 

The March 21, 1996 letter notifies tenants of the one year contract extension and states that “there is no guarantee, at the end of this one-year term, that…HUD will extend our project-based contract.”  Cann Aff. Exh. C, Page 2.   The letter acknowledges that the owner is required to provide a one year notice of  “expiration or termination” of a section 8 contract.   This letter gives no notice at all that the owner intended not to renew the contract nor any explanation for such a non-renewal.  To the contrary, it strongly provides assurances that the contracts will be renewed unless HUD declines to extend them.  The letter relates only to the contract expiring in September.  The record contains no similar correspondence for the other contract which expired in October.   The copy of this March 21 letter in the HUD files indicates that it was not received by HUD until November 8, 1996, less than the required year prior to contract termination. Cann Aff. ¶ 2 Exh. C

There is nothing in the record to indicate that HUD took the steps required by the statute or the HUD Handbook to review the purported notice, consider steps to avoid non-renewal, or make the required written findings.  None of the documentation of these steps required by HUD Handbook 4350.2 Rev-1 is present in the record.

The first indication of the owner’s intention to decline any offer by HUD to renew the section 8 contracts after their expiration in 1997 and to prepay the existing mortgage on the property was the January 7, 1997 letter to HUD.  Cann Aff. Exh. D.   As this letter was sent less than 9 months prior to the expiration of the section 8 contracts, the owner attempted to address the obvious failure to comply with the one year notice requirement by suggesting that the March 1996 letters “satisfied as notice of contract expiration” (emphasis added).    

HUD responded on January 15, 1997.  Cann Aff. Exh. E.  The HUD letter reiterated that the owner's January 7 letter indicated the owner's intent to decline the extension of section 8 contracts and prepay the mortgage.  The HUD letter further stated that HUD' s review indicated that the owner had fulfilled the one year notice requirement for non-renewal of the section 8 contracts.  The owner did not notify the tenants of HUD’s finding that the one year notice requirement had been satisfied. The tenants had been rightfully lulled by the March 20 1996 assurances of the owner that the section 8 contracts would be renewed.  It was not until June 2, 1997, that the tenants received the first notice that – in spite of the availability of an extension - the owner would decline to renew the section 8 contracts and prepay the section 236 mortgage.  Cann Aff. Exh. F.   This notice was given less than two months prior to the proposed prepayment date and far too late to take any effective steps to preserve Oak Grove Towers as low income housing.


The owner prepaid the section 236 mortgage on July 30, 1997.  This prepayment eliminated the prior requirements for lower income occupancy and permitted the owner to increase rents to market rates upon expiration of the section 8 contracts in September and October of 1997.

Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaratory judgment that HUD’s acceptance of the owner’s refusal to renew the project-based section 8 contracts violated 42 USC § 1437f(c)(9) for the following reasons:

First, neither the March 20, 1996 notice to HUD nor the March 21, 1996 letter to tenants met the statutory requirements of one year's notice of the owner's refusal to renew the contract:


a. The March 20, 1996 notice to HUD referenced only one of the two contracts, was a notice of renewal, not of non-renewal, and provided no reasons for termination or non-renewal.

b. The March 21, 1996 letter to tenants referenced only one of the two contracts.  The letter was not a notice to HUD and was not sent to HUD one year prior to contract termination. The letter asserted any expiration of section 8 assistance would occur only in the absence of a further extension by HUD.  It gave no indication at all that the owner would refuse an offer of further extension and it provided no reasons whatsoever for such a refusal. The letter did not provide any explanation of the owner’s reasons for non-renewal.  In fact, the letter gave no basis for any tenant concern about non-renewal of the contracts in September and October of 1997, especially in light of the subsequent enactment of Pub. L. 104-204, providing HUD with authority to renew expiring section 8 contracts.  The only notice to the tenants that the owner would decline to renew the section 8 contracts was not given until June 2, 1997 and that letter gave no explanation for the reasons for non-renewal.

Second, there is no indication in the record that HUD considered any actions to avoid the termination, offered any incentives to the owner to avoid termination, or documented such actions as required by the statute and its own rules.  It is clear from the record that HUD even declined to take one obvious step to avoid termination: informing the owner that the notices of March 20 and 21 1996 did not meet the requirements of the statute.   HUD went out of its way to assist the owner to circumvent the clear requirements of the statute.

Third, the owner did not inform the tenants within 30 days of HUD’s determination on January 15, 1997 that the owner had fulfilled the one year notice requirement. 

By finding legally sufficient notices which are so obviously inconsistent with the statutory requirements, HUD sends a clear message to all owners of section 8 project-based housing that the statutory notice requirements may be ignored with impunity and HUD will engage in whatever post hoc rationalization is required in order to facilitate the owners’ avoidance of the statutory requirements.  Plaintiffs are entitled to a declaratory judgment that HUD’s actions are contrary to the statutory requirements, as set forth above.

IV.  CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, plaintiffs are entitled to entry of the requested order for partial summary judgment.

Dated April 16, 1999 




Jack Cann, Lic. No.  174841


Ann Norton, Lic. No. 7987X


570 Asbury Street, Suite 208


St. Paul, MN  55104


651-643-0102


Attorneys for Plaintiffs

� Plaintiffs do not seek summary judgment on their claim under 42 U.S.C. § 3604.


� www.HUDuser.org/data/statedata96/Index.html


� “A Picture of Subsidized Housing, 1997”,  www.HUDuser.org/data/statedata97/Index/html


�  Id.





� Id.


� Id.


� This statute has been amended since 1996.


� See also HUD’s responses to Requests for Admission Nos. 4 through 9 which elaborate on HUD’s failure to review the effects of the policy on the purposes and policies of the Fair Housing Act. 





�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 1���	Note:  in introduction, note that not seeking SJ on the Sec. 3604 claims.  Question:  Should we seek SJ on the Sec. 3608 and enhanced voucher claims as part of this motion?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 2���   Approximate number of current Sticky voucher holders at OGT.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 2���	Question – how can we support this solely on the record.  Do we assert it and wait for a reply to use affidavits to address any standing issues.  Or do we use affidavits from the start given HUD’s position re: standing.  Research:  standing and the “on the record” requirement.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 4���	Cite – “on the record issue”   Use HUD subsidized profile?  Long term residency?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 4���	Citation?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 4���	We can’t phase these paragraphs in terms of “the owner…”  because the current owner may have purchased the project well after its construction.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 4���	Q: add history of the contracts – initially 5 year renewable then congress switch to 1 year.  Too much detail?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 4���	Q: should we define “enhanced” vouchers earlier?  Should we tie them to the prepayment?  


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 5���	Update statutory citation


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 8���	Cites for Picture of Subsidized Households – web address; and for Census Data


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 8���	Fill in statistics from Hopkins Memorandum.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 8���	Cite – no analysis.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 9���	Add HUD’s duty and provision for notice of HUD’s conclusions


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 10���	Cite to HUD’s March 20 letter.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 10���	Ann, editing mark??


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 10���	add details


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 10���	Question: citation indicating form letter and reason for form letter


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 10���	citation


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 12���	question: unclear?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 13���	Cite.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 13���	Add to this.  Include lossed ability for prospective challenge?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 14���	Citation form


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 14���	question: need authority to request summary judgment on less than all of the claims?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 15��� citation


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 15��� Note – some background on certificates, vouchers necessary?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 16���	Cite cases; Words and Phrases; “so long as” = duration?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 16���	Cite Expressio Unius?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 17���	Page cite


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 17���  Cite to Response to Interrogatory No. 5.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 17��� Cite to Responses to Requests for Admissions Nos. 1, 2, 3.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 18���  Cite to Response to Request for Admission No. 1.


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 18���	Cite; cite to fact section?


�PAGE \# "'Page: '#'�'"  �Page: 18���	Need to cite this so that it refers to the statute as it existed in 1996.





PAGE  
23

